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$10,554 less a year to 
live on, or $879 less a 

month
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85% higher than the 
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64% higher than the 
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38% higher than the 
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$8,755 less a year to 
live on, or $730 less a 

month

$17,137 less a year to 
live on, or $1,428 less 

a month
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CURRICULUM VITAE 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Richard G. Dudley. Jr, M.D. 

210 West 101st Street, Suite 11-K 
New York, New York 10025 

                                                                                    (212) 222-5122 

 

 

 

 

EDUCATION: 
 
*  Temple University School of Medicine Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  

M.D., 1972 

*  Northwestern University Medical Center Chicago, Illinois 
R6 Internship 

*  Northwestern University Institute of Psychiatry Chicago, Illinois 
Psychiatric Residency, completed 1975 

 

LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION: 
 
*  License for the Practice of Medicine, State of New York 

*  Diplomate, American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology 

 

PAST ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS: 
 
*  Visiting Associate Professor of Medicine, Department of Behavioral Sciences 

City University of New York Medical School at City College 

*  Adjunct Assistant Professor of Law, School of Law 
New York University 
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PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYMENT HISTORY: 
 
*   January ‘76 to Present:  Private Practice of Psychiatry 
 

At present, the practice includes a clinical practice primarily focused on 
adolescents and adults (evaluation, consultation, and both individual and family 
psychotherapy); a forensic practice (I regularly appear as a psychiatric expert in 
various types of legal proceedings throughout the United States); and 
consultation/education (the development and/or presentation of continuing 
medical education programs, as well as education programs for other health 
professionals, attorneys, and the public). 

 

*   September ‘85 to June ’05:                 Associate Professor of Medicine 
                                                                                       Behavioral Sciences 
                                                                                       CUNY Med School at City College 
 

From September, 1985 to August, 1992, I was Director of the Department of 
Behavioral Sciences, at which time my primary responsibility was to direct the 
full-year/required course in behavioral sciences. The goal of this course was to 
help students acquire knowledge, skills and attitudes which would assist them in 
becoming effective primary care physicians, for a range of persons from different 
cultural backgrounds, through the incorporation of contributions from the fields of 
psychiatry, psychology, social work, sociology, and anthropology. After I retired 
from the position of Director, I continued to teach in the course. 

 

*   September ‘84 to April ’05: Adjunct Assistant Professor, then  

                                                                                       Visiting Lecturer                                                                                                                                                                   
 School of Law 
  New York University 
 

Initially, as an Adjunct, I team-taught full seminars on “Expert Evidence” and 
also team-taught Family Law.  Then, I transferred to the Law Clinic, funded under 
a different mechanism, where I team-taught “Expert Evidence” with various law 
professors in connection with clinical seminars. Lectures included an exploration 
of the interface between the behavioral and social sciences and the law, and how 
lawyers might more appropriately work with psychiatric experts.  In other settings 
I have lectured on various other aspects of law and psychiatry to judges, 
attorneys, law students and others. 
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*   July ‘82 to June ‘94: Teaching Attending Physician 
  Department of Psychiatry 
  New York Medical College 
  Lincoln Hospital Division 
 

Responsibilities included course, seminar and case conference teaching, as well as 
individual psychotherapy case supervision for psychiatry residents, and the 
direction of the psychotherapy group for psychiatry residents. Previously, through 
the department’s Consultation and Liaison Service, I also taught as part of the 
Chairman’s Rounds for the Department of Internal Medicine. 

 

*   January ‘79 to October ‘84: Assistant Director 
  Professional Services Dept. 
  Roche Laboratories, Div. of  
  Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc. 
 

The principal responsibilities were to actively and creatively participate in the 
medical aspects of marketing Roche products and services, and to direct the 
activities of the Professional Services Product Group. As a participant on 
Marketing Teams, I helped to develop marketing strategies and plans, train Roche 
Field Representatives and implement various promotional programs. My 
responsibilities also included the coordination of Phase IV research efforts, and 
the development of scientific exhibits, medical education films, monographs, and 
symposia for physicians. 

 

*   April ‘76 to July ‘82: Psychiatric Consultant 
  Mental Health Programs 
  Children’s Aid Society of  
  New York City 

Responsibilities included teaching, diagnostic evaluations and treatment of 
selected cases. 

 

*   December ‘77 to December ‘78:  Medical Director 
  Washington Heights-West Harlem 
  Community Mental Health Center 
 

Responsibilities included the design, development and then day-to-day operation 
of a full, twelve service community mental health center. When I accepted this 
position, the center had just been funded, and every program element and support 
system had to be developed.  Once the twelve service chiefs and other key 
administrative staff were hired, and basic support systems were developed and put 
into place, I supervised the chiefs, developed in-service training programs and 
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worked towards the development of program elements not covered by the original 
grant, for example, research programs, transitional housing programs, and 
vocational rehabilitation programs. 

 

*   January ‘76 to December ‘77: New York City Department of 
   Mental Health, Mental Retardation 
  & Alcoholism Services 

Assistant to the Commissioner January ‘76 to November ‘76  

June Jackson Christmas, M.D. -  Commissioner 

Deputy Commissioner     February ‘77 to December ‘77 

Primary responsibilities included the development of new clinical 
programs/services, as well as the ongoing monitoring, evaluating, and 
upgrading of the existing mental hygiene service system. This system 
included all of the medical centers, voluntary hospitals and agencies, and 
the municipal hospitals and public mental hygiene programs in all five 
boroughs. 

 

November ‘76 to January ‘77:  [On leave from the Department] 

Coordinator/Team Leader 
Carter-Mondale Transition Planning Group 

The focus of this effort was to develop policy options in the areas of 
mental health, mental retardation, alcoholism, drug abuse and the 
developmental disabilities for the incoming administration. 

 

*   January ‘74 to December ‘75 Staff Psychiatrist 
  Lower North Community  
  Mental Health Center  
  Chicago Board of Health 
 

Responsibilities included diagnostic evaluations, treatment and some supervision 
and teaching. In addition, there was primary responsibility for the Center’s 
adolescent program. 

 

 

PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS: 
 
*   American Psychiatric Association - Distinguished Life Fellow 
  Scientific Program Committee, 1998-2001 
  Delegate, APA Assembly 1979-1983 
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*   New York County District Branch (APA) 
  Committee of Black Psychiatrists 1984-1986 
  Committee on Legislation 1980-1983 
  Committee on Emergency Psychiatry 1978-1979 

*   American College of Psychiatrists – Fellow 
  Awards Committee 1993-2001 
  Nominations Committee 1989-1992 

*   Black Psychiatrists of America 
  Nominations Committee 1985-1987 
  Program Committee 1980-1982 
  President, Metropolitan New York Chapter 1978-1988 

*   National Medical Association  

*   New York Academy of Medicine - Fellow 

*   One Hundred Black Men  1977-1982 
  Health Committee 1979-1981 

*   American Orthopsychiatric Association 1988-1991 
  Program Committee 1989-1990 

*   American Society for Adolescent Psychiatry 1984-1988 

*   American Academy of Psychiatry & the Law 1984-1988 

*   American Medical Association 1970-1976 
  Council on Long Range Planning and Development 1973-1975 
  Council on Mental Health 1971-1975 

*   American Medical Student Association Foundation 1979-1980 
  Board of Directors 1979-1980 

*   American Medical Student Association 1970-1973 
  Director, Video Journal 1971-1973 
  Board of Trustees 1971-1972 

*   Student National Medical Association 1969-1972 

 

 

OTHER PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES: 
 
*  Consultant in creative approaches to medical education, using a variety of media 

*  Lecturer/speaker for professional health and/or law related organizations and 
groups, as   well as non-professional groups throughout the United States and, to a 
limited extent, abroad -- frequent guest on various television programs, as well as 
host and guest on radio programs. 

* City University of New York Institute for State and Local Governance, Advisory      
Board, 2015-present 
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* Executive Session on Policing and Public Safety, Harvard Kennedy School, 
sponsored by the National Institute of Justice, 2013-2015 

* Commission on Safety and Abuse in America’s Prisons, 2005-2006 

* Housing Works, Inc., Board of Directors 2005-present 

* Vera Institute of Justice, Board of Directors 1989-2014 

*  Hospital Audiences, Inc., Clinical Advisory Board 

*  Examiner in Psychiatry, American Board of Psychiatry & Neurology 

* Highbridge-Woodycrest Center, Inc., Board of Trustees 1991-2004 

* Co-Principal Investigator, Minority Education, Research & Training Institute 
[New York State Department of Mental Health] 1990-1994 

* Public Member, Fatality Review Panel, Child Welfare Administration (formerly 
Special Services for Children), NYC Human Resources Admin. 1990-1992 

*  Family Court Advisory Committee, First Judicial Department 1987-1989 

* Program Development Committee, NYU AIDS Mental Health Project (NIMH 
Contract No. 278-87-005) first 3 years 

*  Coordinator of Training for Volunteers Minority Task Force on AIDS 1986-1988 

*  Poison Control Advisory Committee, N.Y. City Department of Health 1980-1981 

*  Education/Training Consultant, N.Y. State Office of Mental Health 1979 

*  Consultant, Conference on Minority Mental Health Manpower, HEW-ADAMHA 
Minority Advisory Committee 1979 

*  Member, Mental Health Committee, Task Force on the New York City Fiscal 
Crisis 1978 

*  Chairperson, Task Panel on the Mental Health of Black Americans, The 
President’s Commission Mental Health 1978 

*  Physician Resources, Inc. Board of Consultants 1977-1979 

*  Board of Directors, and Chairman of the Ambulance Committee, New York City 
Regional Emergency Services Council 1977-1978 

*  Task Force on Services to Emotionally Disturbed Adolescents, New York City 
Human Resources Administration 1977 

*  Advisory Board, Center for Physician Career Development, American Medical 
Student Association Foundation 1977 

*  American Bar Association -- Young Lawyer’s Section Committee on Mental 
Health, Physician Member/Consultant, 1974-1975 

*  The Thresholds (rehabilitation program for young psychiatric patients) Board of 
Directors 1974-1975 
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OTHER SELECTED ACTIVITIES: 
 
*  Walter Nicks Dance Theatre Workshop 

Chairman, Board of Directors 1985-1994 

*  Amistad World Theatre 
Chairman, Board of Directors 1983-1989 

*  National Urban League 
Black Executive Exchange Program 1979-1981 
Committee on Mental Health 1976-1979 

*  National Association for the Advancement of Colored People Advisory 
Committee, Project Rebound 1977-1978 

*  National Advisory Committee on Ethics 1975-1978 

* New York City Black Citizens for a Fair Media Psychiatric Consultant 1977-1978 

* Young Life, Inc. 1968-1972 

* Big Brothers of America 1970-1972 

 

 

SELECTED HONORS: 
 
* New Jersey Black Achiever of Business and Education 1982 

* Award of Merit, Black Psychiatrist of America 1977 

* “Who’s Who in America” 1976–1977 

* American Biographical Institute 
”Community Leaders and Noteworthy Americans” Ninth Edition 

* Dictionary of International Biography – Cambridge, England 
”Men of Achievement” Fifth Edition 

* Solomon Carter Fuller Institute 
Traveling Fellow 1975 

* Outstanding Young Men of America 1972 

* National Medical Fellowship Recipient 1969–1971 
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PUBLICATIONS: 
 
Dudley, Richard G. Jr., M.D. Childhood Trauma and Its Effects: Implications for Police.  
New Perspective in Policing Bulletin. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, 
National Institute of Justice, 2015, NCJ 248686 

Davis PC, Chandler E, Dudley RG: The Place of Families in Juvenile Defense: Work 
After Miller v. Alabama. New England Journal on Criminal and Civil Confinement, 19 
(No. 2):293-301, 2013 

Dudley R.G.: Being Black and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual or Transgender. Journal of Gay & 
Lesbian Mental Health, Volume 17/number 2/April-June 2013, pgs 183-195 

Dudley R.G., Blume Leonard P: Getting It Right: Life History Investigation as the 
Foundation for a Reliable Mental Health Assessment. The Hofstra Law Review, 36 (No 
3): 963-988, 2008. 

Dudley RG: Offering Psychiatric Opinion in Legal Proceedings When Lesbian or Gay 
Sexual Orientation Is an Issue in Mental Health Issues in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and 
Transgender Communities, Jones BE & Hill MJ (eds), APA Review Psychiatry. Vol. 21,  
American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc., Washington, D.C. 2002 

Dudley RG: All alike but each one different: orphans of the HIV epidemic in Orphans of 
the HIV Epidemic, Levine C (ed) Unit Hospital Fund, New York. 1993 

Dudley RG: Serotonin partial agonists in the treatment of anxiety and depression: 
Introduction. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 51:30, 1990. 

Bing EG, Nichols SE, Goldfinger SM, Fernandez F, Cabaj R, Dudley RG, Krener P, 
Prager M, Ruiz P: The many faces of AIDS: Opportunities for intervention. New 
Directions For Mental Hea1th Services - Psychiatric Aspects of AIDS, 48:69-81, 1990. 

Dudley R.G: Blacks in policy-making positions in Black Families in Crisis- The Middle 
Class, Coner-Edwards AF and Spurlock J (eds), Brunner/Mazel, New York, 1988. 
Davis PC, Dudley RG: The black family in modern slavery. The Harvard Blackletter 
Journal - Harvard School 4:9-15, 1987. 

Davis P, Dudley RG: Family evaluation and the development of standards for child 
custody determination. Columbia Journal of Law and Social Problems, 19 (No. 4):505-
515, 1985. 

 

 

LECTURES, PRESENTATIONS, AND EDUCATIONAL VIDEOTAPES 
 
Described upon request 

 

January/2016 
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CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO 
Attorney General 
HEATHER D. PROCTER 
Senior Deputy Attorney General 
Appellate Division 
100 North Carson Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 
Telephone:  (775) 684-1271 

Attorney for Respondents 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

DONALD SHERMAN, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

RENE BAKER, et al., 

Respondents. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 2:02-cv-1349-LRH-LRL 

OPPOSITION TO RENEWED 
MOTION FOR LEAVE  

TO CONDUCT DISCOVERY  
(Death Penalty) 

Respondents, by and through counsel, Catherine Cortez Masto, Attorney General of the State of 

Nevada, oppose Donald Sherman’s (Sherman) renewed motion for leave to conduct discovery. 

Docket #158.  This opposition is based upon the following points and authorities, together with all other 

pleadings, documents, and exhibits on file herein. 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
1

I. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On February 5, 1997, a jury convicted Sherman of Count I, burglary; Count II, robbery; and 

Count III, first-degree murder.  Exhibit 71.
2
  Sherman was sentenced to death.  Exhibits 77, 80.

. . . 

1
 Respondents deny all factual allegations in the petition save and except for those expressly found by a Nevada court of 

competent jurisdiction. 
2
 All exhibit references to Respondents’ index filed in support of Respondents’ motion to dismiss, Docket #125-145, unless 

otherwise noted. 
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The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the conviction on October 27, 1998.  Exhibit 98.  The 

United States Supreme Court denied the petition for certiorari on May 24, 1999.  Exhibit 104. 

Sherman filed the first state habeas petition on June 7, 1999.  Exhibits 107, 116.  The state 

district court denied the petitions on December 12, 2000.  Exhibit 124.  The Nevada Supreme Court 

affirmed the denials on July 9, 2002.  Exhibit 139.  Remittitur filed on August 5, 2002.  Exhibit 140. 

Sherman filed the original federal petition on September 11, 2002.  Docket #1. 

Sherman filed the first motion for leave to conduct discovery on November 13, 2003.  

Docket #19.  On August 30, 2004, this Court granted Sherman’s motion in part.  Docket #34.  Sherman 

moved for reconsideration.  Docket #35.  On January 31, 2005, the Court granted Sherman’s motion for 

reconsideration in part.  Docket #43.  The Court permitted Sherman to serve subpoenas to obtain 

records from his former attorneys; his defense expert, Dr. Stephen Pittel; and his own medical records.  

Id. 

On November 7, 2005, Sherman filed an amended federal petition.  Docket #52.  This Court 

ultimately stayed this action.  Docket #79. 

While the amended federal petition was pending, Sherman filed a second state habeas petition in 

the state district court on December 12, 2005.  Exhibit 141.  The state district court denied the second 

state habeas petition for technical errors.  Exhibit 147.  The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and 

remanded the lower court’s technical ruling.  Exhibit 168. 

Sherman filed an addendum to the state habeas petition.  Exhibit 171.  The state district court 

filed the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order denying the petition.  Exhibit 188.  On May 17, 

2010, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the second state habeas petition.  Exhibit 205.  

Remittitur issued on August 16, 2010.  Exhibit 208. 

This Court vacated the motion for stay on October 8, 2010.  Docket #102. 

Sherman filed a second-amended federal petition on November 18, 2010. 

Respondents moved to dismiss the petition as the claims are untimely, unexhausted, 

procedurally barred and/or not cognizable.  Docket #124.  Sherman opposed the motion.  Docket #155.  

Respondents replied on January 23, 2012.  Docket #170. 

. . . 
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Sherman also filed a motion for evidentiary hearing (Docket #157) and renewed motion for 

leave to conduct discovery (Docket #158).  Respondents respond to the motion for evidentiary hearing 

separately. 

II. 

ARGUMENT 

Sherman seeks to conduct discovery relating to several claims in the second-amended federal 

petition.  Docket #158.  Sherman seeks to serve subpoenas duces tecum on various departments of the 

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD), the Clark County District Attorney’s Office 

(CCDA), Trude I. McMahan, Esq., Washington Department of Health and Human Services, Clark 

County Detention Center (CCDC), Idaho Department of Corrections, Idaho Board of Pardons and 

Parole, Washington Department of Corrections, Longview Police Department, Federal Bureau of 

Investigation, Nevada Department of Corrections; and to take the depositions of Larry Wages, Gail 

Stinton, James “Greg” Cox, Robert Bruce Bannister, D.O., Gregory Smith, and persons most 

knowledgeable at the Nevada Department of Corrections, Nevada Department of Health and Human 

Services and the Nevada Department of Public Works.  Docket #159. 

Respondents argue in the motion to dismiss and reply that Sherman has failed to fully exhaust 

the claims for which he now seeks discovery, and that those claims are likewise procedurally barred.  

See Docket ##124, 170.  Sherman’s renewed motion for leave to conduct discovery is therefore 

premature and should be denied.  See Docket #43.  Until this Court rules on the motion to dismiss and 

finds that the claims in the second-amended federal petition are in fact exhausted, timely and not 

procedurally barred, this Court cannot rule on the renewed motion for leave to conduct discovery.  

Should this Court rule that the claims are untimely or procedurally barred, only then should this Court 

consider the discovery in this action as discussed by Sherman regarding overcoming the procedural 

defenses.  This Court should not rule on this motion for leave to conduct discovery regarding the merits 

of Sherman’s claims until this Court fully rules upon the motion to dismiss. 

Despite Sherman’s lack of success on the first motion for leave to conduct discovery, Sherman 

has obtained and provided to this Court a large amount of documents in support of his claims.  At this  

. . . 
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point, Sherman provides nothing more than speculation that more documents exist and seeks nothing 

more than to conduct a fishing expedition. 

A. Standard for Discovery 

Rule 6(a) of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases in the United States District Courts 

provides:  “A judge may, for good cause, authorize a party to conduct discovery under the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure and may limit the extent of discovery.  In upholding denial of discovery, the Ninth 

Circuit has held: 

 
A habeas petitioner does not enjoy the presumptive entitlement to 
discovery of a traditional civil litigant.  Bracy v. Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 
903-905, 117 S.Ct. 1793, 1796-97, 138 L.Ed.2d (1997).  Rather, 
discovery is available only in the discretion of the court and for good 
cause shown.  See Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases, Rule 6(a) 28 
U.S.C. foll. § 2254.  This is consistent with our caselaw that there is no 
general right to discovery in habeas proceedings.  See Campbell v. 
Blodgett, 982 F.2d 1356, 1358 (9th Cir. 1993). 
 

Rich v. Calderon, 187 F.3d 1064, 1067-1068 (9th Cir. 1999). 

Therefore, there must be evidence in support of the claims before discovery can be authorized.  

Id. at 1067.  Habeas corpus is not a fishing expedition for petitioners to explore a case in search of its 

existence.  Kemp v. Ryan, 638 F.3d 1245, 1260 (9th Cir. 2011); Calderon v. Dist. Ct. (Nicolaus), 

98 F.3d 1102, 1106 (9th Cir. 1996), cert. denied sub. nom Nicolaus v. Dist. Ct., 520 U.S. 1233 (1997); 

Hill v. Johnson, 210 F.3d 481, 487 (5th Cir. 2000) (allegations must be specific as opposed to merely 

speculative or conclusory).  Mere speculation that some exculpatory evidence may have been withheld 

does not establish good cause for a discovery request.  Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 282 (1999). 

Further, federal habeas review under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) does not permit consideration of 

exhibits or new “evidence” not previously provided to the state courts.  See Cullen v. Pinholster, 

131 S. Ct. 1388 (2011). 

Good cause can only be considered in a petition containing only exhausted claims and including 

factual allegations supporting the claim.  McDaniel v. United States District Court, 127 F.3d 886, 888 

(9th Cir. 1997). 

To determine if the petitioner has demonstrated “good cause,” the court considers Bracy v. 

Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 909 (1997).  In Bracy, the court found a number of specific factors established 
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“good cause” to conduct discovery:  (1) petitioner’s request was grounded in specific and demonstrable 

facts; (2) the discovery request established a logical and direct nexus between the discovery sought and 

the pending claims; (3) there was real and factual evidence to which the petitioner could point in order 

to establish that the claims had a factual basis and were not merely speculative; and (4) the discovery 

request was narrowly tailored to obtain specific, identifiable things. 

Thus, discovery is inappropriate when the discovery sought 1) relates to conclusory allegations, 

2) relates to an unexhausted claim, 3) relates to a procedurally barred claim, 4) relates to a claim which 

the petitioner failed to seek discovery in state habeas corpus proceedings or otherwise failed to develop 

the factual basis of his claim and now seeks to remedy that deficiency in federal court, 5) relates to a 

claim in which the allegations, if established, would not entitle the petitioner to relief, 6) relates to a 

claim where the state court trier of fact has reliably found the relevant facts, 7) relates to a fishing 

expedition by the petitioner in an effort to explore his case in search of its existence, 8) is a fishing 

expedition to investigate mere speculation, 9) relates to a claim where the petitioner has made 

generalized statements about the possible existence of material and has failed to produce specific 

evidence that supports his claim that the requested material exists.  The fact that the instant matter 

involves the death penalty is not a basis for this court to grant discovery contrary to the law as 

explicated above. 

 
B. Sherman Fails to Demonstrate Good Cause to Grant His Discovery Request for 

Prosecution and Law Enforcement Files. 
 

Sherman alleges violations of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), because the State failed 

to disclose material and exculpatory evidence.  Docket #158 at 7.  Sherman argues “[d]iscovery is 

necessary not only to show the merits of these claims,” but also to demonstrate (1) equitable tolling, (2) 

timeliness under 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(D), and (3) cause to overcome the state procedural bars.  Id.
3
 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

 

                                                 
  
3
  Sherman does not argue discovery is necessary to show the requisite prejudice necessary to overcome the state procedural 

bars.  Docket #1158 at 7.  Cause and prejudice are two separate components and both must be proven. 
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1. Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause to obtain discovery from the Clark County 

District Attorney’s Office or the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. 
 

Sherman seeks to serve subpoenas to obtain evidence regarding alleged undisclosed benefits 

provided to witnesses Michael Placencia, Christine Kalter and Stacey Maher.  Docket #158 at 7-8, 

citing Docket #159 at Exhibits 1-7. 

Sherman argues he set forth specific factual allegations demonstrating informant Placencia 

received benefits in exchange for his testimony.  Docket #158 at 8-9.  He argues the evidence 

“available” to him demonstrates Placencia “received a plethora of other benefits” including disposition 

of charges, credit for time served, and an OR release.  Id. 

First, Placencia did not testify at Sherman’s trial.  Exhibit 1 (Docket #125-2 at 17-18); 

Exhibits 63, 65, 66, 68, 72,-75.  It is therefore unclear how any of the undisclosed evidence was 

exculpatory or impeachment material when he did not testify. 

Even if this Court finds such information relevant, Sherman provides little more than 

speculation and hypothesis that the State provided Placencia with undisclosed benefits.  That a detective 

left a message for the justice court, and the justice court wanted to find out the district attorney’s 

intention as to the case before ruling on a release, does not demonstrate an undisclosed benefit.  This is 

particularly true when the notes are not dated and there is no connection established between that case 

and Sherman’s trial.  Docket #114-5 at Exhibit 5.38.  Sherman provides nothing more than speculation 

that any undisclosed benefits exists or that the State failed to correct false testimony. 

As to Kalter, Sherman alleges the State failed to disclose that she was previously an informant 

for LVMPD or the conditions placed on Kalter at the time of her release.  Docket #158 at 9-10.  In the 

documents provided by Sherman, Kalter’s former trial counsel states she learned that Kalter was 

previously an informant, and that she suspected Kalter continued to be an informant after her release on 

February 23, 1996.  Docket #114-9 at 5.62, 5.66 at 1-2.  Sherman provides no evidence that Kalter 

testified in exchange for undisclosed benefits or that the State failed to disclose exculpatory or 

impeachment evidence other than speculation by Kalter’s previous counsel, who was also one of 

Sherman’s defense counsel. 

. . . 
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Regarding Maher, Sherman argues the State failed to disclose information regarding the 

disposition of criminal charges against her and the sealing of her records.  Docket #158 at 10.  Sherman 

provides nothing more than speculation that the information regarding Maher regarding disposition of 

charges and sealing of records were in any way tied to her testimony against Sherman.  In fact, the 

information provided by Sherman deals with traffic violations or misdemeanors which could not be 

used to impeach Maher, or criminal infractions that occurred after Sherman’s trial.  See Docket #114-9 

at Exhibit 5.68.  Further, Sherman’s trial counsel cross-examined Maher regarding any benefits she 

might have received during trial.  Exhibit 63 at 125-26. 

Sherman fails to demonstrate the witnesses received benefits beyond what was acknowledged, 

admitted or testified to. 

Sherman argues he requires evidence from LVMPD, Public Records and Homicide divisions, 

and the Criminal Division of the CCDA, to show trial counsel failed to investigate evidence and 

observations in Oregon and Washington directly prior to the offense.  Docket #158 at 9-10, citing 

Docket #159 at Exhibits 1, 3, 5.  However, Sherman provides no factual basis for this argument in his 

motion.  His motion, rather, focuses on the benefits allegedly received and the allegedly false testimony 

of witnesses at trial, not the investigation of evidence in Oregon and Washington.  Sherman fails to 

demonstrate good cause for discovery. 

Likewise, Sherman seeks to serve subpoenas on the Federal Bureau of Investigations (FBI) 

regarding Dianne Bauer’s testimony that she called the FBI and warned them that her father’s life was 

in danger.  Docket #158 at 10, citing Docket #159 at Exhibit 18-19.  Sherman fails to demonstrate his 

claims are not speculative.  Sherman provides no evidence that the FBI had anything to do with the 

investigation into Dr. Bauer’s murder or of Sherman’s involvement in the murder.  Moreover, the only 

justification Sherman provides for the FBI records is that Dianne Bauer did not call the FBI to warn 

them that her father was in danger.  Sherman essentially seeks to justify discovery of documents that he 

himself states do not exist. 

LVMPD, Public Records Section (Docket #159 at Exhibit 1).  Sherman seeks any and all 

documents held by the LVMPD Public Records Section, including but not limited to material 

concerning the murder for which Sherman was convicted, for other criminal cases that he does not 

Case 2:02-cv-01349-LRH-VCF   Document 173   Filed 01/26/12   Page 7 of 21

AA6559



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

-8- 

identify the crime or bases, and documents “not” limited to the murder in this matter.  Id. at 

Attachment A, p. 1-2.  Sherman fails to limit the discovery request to specific, identifiable things that 

have a demonstrable nexus to his claims and are not speculative.  Sherman fails to show good cause for 

his discovery request. 

Sherman further seeks any and all documents regarding Michael Placencia, Christine Kalter, 

Lester Bauer, Dianne Bauer, Stacey Bauer, Gayland Hammack, and Judge Deborah Lippis.  Sherman 

fails to demonstrate good cause, as discussed above, for this evidence.  He fails to demonstrate a nexus 

between the extensive request and the claims presented.  Sherman further fails to limit the discovery 

request as to time and date, without specific, identifiable request.  Id. at p. 2. 

Sherman fails to limit the remaining requests to the crimes for which the second-amended 

federal habeas petition addresses.  Id. at 2-3.  Sherman again fails to narrowly tailor the subpoena to 

demonstrate a nexus between the very broad request and the claims before this Court, and to raise 

specific factual claims and not merely speculation. 

LVMPD, Organized Crime and Intelligence Unit (Docket #159 at Exhibit 2).  Sherman fails to 

demonstrate the Organized Crime and Intelligence Unit has any evidence related to the claims before 

this Court. 

Sherman also seeks unlimited discovery for Sherman, Placencia, Kalter, and Maher.  Sherman is 

not entitled to unlimited discovery in this matter.  He must demonstrate good cause for each discovery 

request, which he fails to do.  Sherman provides no time or date restrictions, nor does he provide a 

nexus between the claims and the broad discovery request.  He further fails to limit the discovery to 

specific, identifiable things.  Beyond Sherman’s allegation of benefits and false testimony, Sherman 

makes no arguments regarding the remaining records sought.  Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause 

for discovery. 

CCDA, Criminal Division (Docket #159 at Exhibit 3).  Sherman seeks once again unlimited 

discovery regarding Sherman, Dr. Bauer, Dianne Bauer, Placencia, Kalter and Maher.  He fails to 

develop a nexus between the requested discovery and claims, anything beyond speculation of his 

claims, or specific, identifiable things. 

. . . 
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LVMPD, Secret Witness Program (Docket #159 at Exhibit 4).  Sherman seeks documents 

regarding Sherman, Placencia, Kalter and Maher.  Sherman fails to provide any real or factual evidence 

in order to establish that the claims have a factual basis regarding these individuals rather than mere 

speculation.  Sherman further fails to limit the discovery to date constraints. 

LVMPD, Homicide Division (Docket #159 at Exhibit 5).  Once again, Sherman seeks 

documents regarding Sherman, Placencia, Kalter and Maher.  Sherman does not limit the request to the 

claims presented in this action or to the murder and crimes for which Sherman was convicted.  Rather, 

Sherman requests all possible documents ever generated by the Homicide Division.  Sherman fails to 

demonstrate anything beyond speculation, in very broad terms, for a nexus for unlimited discovery to 

the claims raised, or specific, identifiable things.  Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause for 

discovery. 

LVMPD, Evidence Vault (Docket #159 at Exhibit 6).  Sherman’s arguments in the motion 

center on alleged benefits and false testimony.  Docket #158.  Sherman provides no argument as to good 

cause for a subpoena to the LVMPD Evidence Vault. 

LVMPD, Confidential Informant Program (Docket #159 at Exhibit 7).  Sherman seeks evidence 

from the confidential informant program from 1994 to present.  Sherman fails to justify any basis for 

evidence beyond the trial in this matter.  He certainly fails to demonstrate any basis for records spanning 

fourteen years.  Sherman’s discovery request goes well beyond the claims presented in the 

second-amended federal habeas petition.  In fact, to the extent Sherman seeks such evidence, the 

evidence would render Sherman’s claims unexhausted as he seeks to extend indefinitely his claims. 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (Docket #159 at Exhibits 18 and 19).  The only justification 

Sherman provides for the FBI records is to demonstrate that Dianne Bauer did not call the FBI to warn 

them that her father was in danger.  Sherman fails to tailor the subpoenas to specific, identifiable things, 

especially when Sherman seeks evidence that he himself alleges does not exist.  Further, Sherman only 

speculates that there is evidence that no such records exist, and provides no nexus between the 

discovery of the lack of such evidence, however that may be completed, and his claims. 

. . . 

. . . 
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2. Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause to obtain discovery from the Longview 

(Washington) Police Department. 
 

Sherman seeks to serve a subpoena on the Longview (Washington) Police Department (LWPD) 

regarding the instant offense.  Docket #158 at 7-8, citing Docket #159 at Exhibit 17.  Sherman argues 

the State failed to disclose evidence from the LWPD.  Docket #158 at 10-11. 

However, Sherman himself provided both the state courts and this Court the records from the 

LWPD, including a copy “of Longview Police Department file re: Donald Sherman; correspondence, 

handwritten notes, memos, name searches, event details, incident reports & phone messages.”  

Docket #110-7 at Exhibit 2.53.  Sherman also provides the Court with other incident reports filed with 

the LWPD regarding violence by Sherman against Dianne Bauer.  See id. at Exhibits 2.19, 2.40, 2.41. 

As with the FBI, Sherman seeks to demonstrate that the LWPD does not have documents 

regarding Dianne Bauer’s telephone call to warn them her father was in danger.  Sherman fails to justify 

discovery of documents which he alleges does not exist. 

Sherman alleges claims regarding the police report and allegedly exculpatory statements, but 

fails to state what evidence he seeks through discovery that he has not already provided to this Court.  

Sherman cannot use discovery for a fishing expedition of his claim.  Sherman fails to demonstrate a 

nexus between the subpoena and the claims in the petition, or that his claims are more than speculative.  

LWPD (Docket #159 at Exhibit 17).  Once again, Sherman seeks unlimited discovery from 

LWPD regarding Sherman.  Sherman does not limit his discovery to the murder of Dr. Bauer.  

Sherman’s request goes well beyond his justification for good cause.  Sherman further fails to request 

specific, limited discovery that is applicable to his claims. 

3. Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause to depose Detective Larry Wages. 

Sherman further seeks to depose Detective Larry Wages who investigate Sherman’s 

involvement in the Idaho murder conviction.  Docket #158 at 8, citing Docket #159 at Exhibit 8. 

Sherman argues the State failed to disclose material exculpatory and impeachment evidence in 

the possession of the Sandpoint Idaho Police Department (SIPD).  Docket #158 at 11-12.  Sherman 

seeks to raise questions regarding Sherman’s prior murder conviction.  Essentially, Sherman seeks to  

. . . 
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re-prosecute the Idaho murder conviction.  Sherman provides no evidence that he was not the shooter in 

the Idaho murder, and that he shot the victim three times. 

Sherman fails to demonstrate anything but speculation regarding the evidence sought from 

Detective Wages.  Sherman provides no evidence that Sherman was not in fact the gunman in the prior 

Idaho murder conviction, or that he was not convicted of the Idaho murder.  The jury found two 

aggravators in relation to the Idaho murder: 

 
The murder was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment, 
to-wit: First Degree Murder in the First Judicial District Court of the State 
of Idaho in and for the County of Bonner in 1982 in Case No. 42745. 
 
The murder was committed by a person who was previously convicted of 
another Murder in the First Judicial District Court of the State of Idaho in 
and for the County of Bonner in 1982 in Case No. 42745. 

Exhibit 77 at 3.  Sherman essentially seeks to re-prosecute the Idaho murder.  Sherman fails to 

demonstrate good cause for the deposition of Detective Wages.  There is no logical or direct nexus 

between the discovery sought and the claims pending before this Court.  Sherman cannot simply seek to 

relitigate the prior prosecution from Idaho. 

Larry Wages (Docket #159 at Exhibit 8).  Sherman seeks to take the deposition of Detective 

Larry Wages, who allegedly investigated Sherman’s involvement in the Idaho murder conviction.  

Docket #158 at 8.  Sherman provides no argument in support of the deposition of Mr. Wages in the 

motion.  Even if this Court were to permit such deposition, which Respondents’ oppose, Sherman’s 

subpoena for deposition is far too broad.  Sherman seeks every document related to the Idaho 

prosecution.  However, Sherman fails to demonstrate a nexus between the claims and the broad 

discovery regarding the Idaho documents.  Sherman fails to demonstrate his claims are anything but 

speculative, and fails to limit the subpoena to specific and identifiable claims.  Sherman fails to 

demonstrate good cause to conduct discovery. 

 
4. Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause to conduct discovery regarding law 

enforcement. 
 

Sherman argues this Court previously found that Sherman’s arguments “appear tailored to 

justify his discovery.”  Docket #158 at 12, citing Sherman v. McDaniel, 333 F.Supp.2d 960 (D. Nev. 

2004) (Docket #34 at 21).  However, the full quote from the Court provides: 
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The claims that petitioner formulates appear tailored to justify his 
discovery.  For the most part, at the heart of these claims, petitioner 
essentially asserts that his trial counsel unreasonably failed to seek the 
discovery that petitioner seeks now.  If no more than that were required for 
a showing of good cause under Bracy, habeas petitioners would have a 
free pass to conduct any discovery remotely related to their case. 
 

Docket #34 at 21-22.  While this Court made this statement as to Sherman’s request for law 

enforcement and prosecution materials, when read in context, the Court actually found that the request 

was too remotely related to the case and too broad. 

Sherman argues he has not received a single page of discovery from the Clark County District 

Attorney’s Office.  Docket #158 at 12.  First, this Court denied Sherman’s first request for discovery.  

Docket ##34, 43.  Therefore, the CCDA violated no order from this Court for formal discovery.  

Second, during the hearing before the state district court on the second state habeas petition, the State 

represented they had turned over everything in their file to the defense counsel at the time of trial, who 

gave the file to appellate counsel and purportedly to Sherman’s current counsel.  Exhibit 181 at 32-33.  

Sherman fails to demonstrate this statement was false, and provides no basis for CCDA to provide of its 

own volition records that it provided, in full, to Sherman’s defense counsel. 

Sherman further seeks the “notes” prosecutor David Roger reviewed to determine the extent of 

the benefits received by the State’s witnesses.  Docket #158 at 12.  Sherman is not entitled to such 

“notes,” as the notes are attorney work product.  Sherman further seeks discovery of material which is 

not and would not be included in whatever the definition of “open file” as agreed between his trial 

counsel and the prosecutor.  Notably, the prosecutor’s notes and work product is not within what was 

contemplated by an “open file.”  Finally, Sherman fails to demonstrate such “notes” exist. 

Sherman argues the CCDA’s “historical practice” of failing to comply with disclosure 

obligations gives Sherman reason to “assume that this evidence is only the ‘tip of the iceberg.’”  

Docket #158 at 12-13, citing United States v. Blanco, 392 F.3d 382, 394 (9th Cir. 2004).  Regardless of 

the court’s findings in the other cases cited by Sherman, Sherman fails to demonstrate such practice 

occurred in this case.  Sherman fails to demonstrate that more exculpatory and impeachment evidence is 

located in the CCDA’s files.  His demonstration has been nothing more than speculative as to the 

existence of benefits by the CCDA or law enforcement. 
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Sherman further argues development of this claim would support Sherman’s cause and prejudice 

argument.  Docket #158 at 13.  Sherman argues under Cooper v. Neven, 641 F.3d 322, 332-33 (9th Cir. 

2011), the Ninth Circuit recognized the Nevada Supreme Court’s cause and prejudice analysis under 

Brady paralleled the second and third elements of Brady, rendering the state procedural bars of Nev. 

Rev. Stat. 34.810 and Nev. Rev. Stat. 34.726 inadequate.  Id.  However, Cooper is limited to the 

specific facts of that case in which the Nevada Supreme Court explicitly found the cause and prejudice 

and the Brady standard in that case paralleled.  The Nevada Supreme Court did no such thing here.  

Exhibit 205.  See Docket #170 at 48-49. 

Sherman argues he has obtained compelling evidence that the State made false representations 

to Sherman’s trial counsel and presented false testimony through numerous witnesses, establishing 

Brady materiality and a violation of Napue.  Docket #158 at 14. 

Sherman further argues the prejudice under Brady is also directly related to Claims One, Two, 

Three, Eight, and Seventeen.  Docket #158 at 14.  See Respondents’ reply in support of the motion to 

dismiss, Docket #170 at 44-49, 51, 55-56. 

Sherman further argues the evidence would demonstrate timeliness of the petition pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(D) because the statute of limitations should not have started until one year from 

the discovery of the factual predicate of the claims which were not reasonably available to him.  

Docket #158 at 14.  He also argues the discovery would demonstrate equitable tolling to establish 

extraordinary circumstances and his diligence.  Docket #158 at 14-15.  However, as Respondents argue 

in the reply in support of the motion to dismiss, Sherman raised the factual allegations of his Brady and 

Napue allegations in the original motion for leave to conduct discovery.  Docket #170 at 19-23; 

Docket #19.  Therefore, Sherman had the basis of the original claims under Brady several years before 

filing the amended federal habeas petition. 

Sherman fails to demonstrate a nexus between the discovery sought and the cause and prejudice 

or timeliness arguments presented regarding the alleged Brady and Napue claims, when Sherman had 

the factual allegations of those claims prior to filing the amended federal petition. 

. . . 

. . . 
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C. Sherman Fails to Demonstrate Good Cause to Support Discovery to Obtain Records 

Pertaining to Dianne and Lester Bauer. 
 

Sherman seeks to subpoena records pertaining to Lester Bauer’s trust files and the Washington 

State Department of Social and Health Services regarding Lester Bauer, Dianne Bauer, Rodney Miller 

(Dianne Bauer’s ex-husband), and Jessica Miller (Dianne Bauer’s daughter).  Docket #158 at 15, citing 

Docket #159 at Exhibits 9, 10.  Sherman argues the discovery supports (1) his ineffective assistance of 

counsel claim; (2) timeliness of the petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(B) and (D); and (3) cause and 

prejudice to overcome the state procedural bars.  Docket #158 at 15. 

Respondents address Sherman’s untimely filing arguments in the reply in support of the motion 

to dismiss.  Docket #170 at 18-23. 

Sherman further argues the evidence would go to demonstrate cause and prejudice by 

demonstrating (1) the trial court withheld relevant evidence and (2) ineffective assistance of 

post-conviction counsel.  Docket #158 at 17.  As Respondents argue in the reply in support of the 

motion to dismiss, Sherman fails to demonstrate cause based upon the trial court’s in camera review 

sufficient to overcome the state procedural bars because Sherman had notice of the court’s review and 

that there were documents withheld from the defense, yet made no attempt to obtain those documents 

on direct appeal or on post-conviction.  Docket #170 at 45. 

As to the second point, as Respondents again argue in the reply, Sherman was not 

constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel, and therefore counsel’s 

actions cannot serve as cause to overcome the state procedural bars.  Id. at 46-47, 50, 58. 

Sherman further fails to demonstrate how obtaining this evidence would demonstrate the 

requisite prejudice required to overcome the state procedural bars. 

Trudy McMahan, Esq. (Docket #159 at Exhibit 9).  Sherman previously attempted to obtain a 

subpoena for Trudy McMahan, Dr. Bauer’s attorney.  This Court denied the request to serve Attorney 

McMahan because Sherman’s proposed subpoena “ranges beyond the claim that petitioner claims 

justifies it” and therefore he failed to show good cause.  Docket #43 at 9.  Sherman again seeks “all 

records related to Lester Bauer.”  Docket #159 at Exhibit 9; Docket #158 at 17.  The request goes well 

beyond Sherman’s claim that Dr. Bauer sought to change his will shortly before his death, thus giving 
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Dianne Bauer financial motive to murder her father.  The documents Sherman seeks are further 

protected by the attorney-client privilege.  See Wharton v. Calderon, 127 F.3d 1201, 1205 (9th Cir. 

1997) (“attorney-client privilege, like most other privileges, is an evidentiary privilege – it protects 

against the compelled disclosure in court, or in court-sanctioned discovery, of privileged 

communications.”) (emphasis in original); see generally Pac. Fisheries Inc. v. United States, 539 F.3d 

1143, 1148 (9th Cir. 2008) (explaining that the attorney work-product privilege “shields both opinion 

and factual work product from discovery. Therefore, if a document is covered by the attorney 

work-product privilege, the government need not segregate and disclose its factual contents.”) (internal 

citations omitted). 

Moreover, Dianne Bauer was never a defendant in this case.  The question is whether Sherman 

murdered Dr. Bauer and Sherman’s own knowledge.  The trust files do not have any nexus between the 

discovery sought and the pending claims. 

Washington State Department of Social and Health Services (Docket #159 at Exhibit 10).  

Sherman seeks to obtain records related to Dr. Bauer, Dianne Bauer, Rodney Miller and Jessica Miller.  

Docket #158 at 17.  The subpoena is directed to the Washington State Department of Social and Health 

Services requesting information pertaining to Rodney Miller and/or Jessica Miller.  Docket #159 

at Exhibit 10.  While Sherman asks for information pertaining to only these two individuals, he goes on 

to ask for documents concerning the two individuals, plus Dr. Bauer and Dianne Bauer.  However, 

Sherman’s argument does not go to Mr. Miller’s testimony, but allegations of sexual abuse on Jessica 

Miller.  Sherman fails to demonstrate good cause to grant discovery of such personal information.  

Rodney Miller testified at the penalty phase of trial.  Exhibit 72. 

Sherman fails to develop the nexus between the discovery sought and the pending claims.  

Moreover, Sherman’s request for discovery is nothing more than speculative.  Sherman seeks evidence 

that Dianne Bauer manufactured allegations of sexual abuse regarding Jessica Miller.  In other words, 

he seeks to obtain evidence that he alleges does not even exist.  This cannot demonstrate good cause. 

Finally, Sherman’s request is not narrowly tailored to obtain specific, identifiable things 

pertaining to the claim presented to this Court.  Sherman fails to justify the overreaching subpoena  

. . . 
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duces tecum and the broad range of documents he seeks to obtain.  Again, the question before this Court 

is Sherman’s knowledge and belief regarding Dianne Bauer’s alleged sexual abuse. 

 
D. Sherman Fails to Demonstrate Good Cause to Obtain Discovery Relating to Himself and 

His Family. 
 

Sherman seeks evidence relating to his complete health records; jail, prison, probation and 

parole records; investigative records detailing his culpability in the charged offense and prior 

conviction; and a deposition of Sherman’s mother, Gail Stinton.  Docket #158 at 17-18, citing 

Docket #159 at Exhibits 11, 12-16, 1, 3, 5, 17-19, and 20.  Sherman argues this evidence is necessary to 

support his claims of (1) ineffective assistance of trial counsel regarding Sherman’s dysfunctional 

family and childhood, expert testimony, mitigation evidence, and prior criminal acts; and (2) cause and 

prejudice based upon ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel.
4
  Docket #158 at 17-19. 

Respondents address the allegation of cause based upon post-conviction counsel above.  Supra 

at Section II(C); Docket #170 at 46-47, 50, 58.  Any alleged actions by state post-conviction counsel 

cannot show cause for failure to comply with the state procedural bars. 

Clark County Detention Center (CCDC), Medical Records Section (Docket #159 at Exhibit 11).  

Sherman argues counsel was ineffective for not providing corroborating information to the penalty 

phase defense expert, Dr. Pittel, regarding a diagnosis of Sherman’s mental state.  Docket #158 at 18.  

First, Sherman fails to develop a nexus between his claims and the requested discovery.  Sherman fails 

to delineate which claims of ineffective assistance of counsel pertain to Dr. Pittel.  Docket #158. 

At Claim Two (S), Sherman alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to provide Dr. Pittel 

information from Daryl Jenkins, a mental health counselor in Washington.  Docket #103 at 161-62.  In 

Claim Two (V), Sherman alleges counsel was ineffective for selecting Dr. Pittel as an expert.  Id. 

at 166.  He further argues in Claim Two (V) that counsel failed to furnish Dr. Pittel various 

documentary evidence, including Sherman’s performance while on parole from 1992 to 1994 and 

“adequate mitigation information” regarding Sherman’s childhood and family background.  Id. at 167.  

Sherman alleges in Claim Two (W) that counsel failed to provide Dr. Pittel with evidence regarding 

                                                 
  
4
  Sherman does not raise an independent claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel in the second-amended 

federal habeas petition.  Docket #103. 
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Sherman’s parents, Ronald and Gail Stinton, criminal records of members of Sherman’s family, parole 

information from Longview Parole and Probation Office, Sherman’s juvenile criminal record, various 

information from individual declarations and depositions, and various information regarding Dianne 

Bauer.  Id. at 167-72.  However, there is no claim that counsel failed to furnish Dr. Pittel with medical 

records while Sherman was detained in CCDC. 

Further, the subpoena is not specific as to a time or date for the requested records or limited to 

records for a mental health diagnosis.  Sherman’s allegations are nothing more than speculative. 

CCDC, Inmate Records Section and Classification Section (Docket #159 at Exhibits 12
5
 and 

Exhibit 13).  Sherman’s allegations deal with evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding 

Sherman’s dysfunctional family and childhood, expert testimony by Dr. Pittel, and mitigation evidence, 

including prior criminal acts used in aggravation.  Again, Sherman fails to explain which claims in the 

lengthy petition this discovery pertains to.  Further, Sherman fails to demonstrate any nexus between his 

claims and the records held by the CCDC.  The records in the CCDC do not deal with Sherman’s family 

or childhood, testimony by Dr. Pittel, or specific mitigation evidence.  The prior criminal act used in 

aggravation was a murder out of Idaho, not in the CCDC. 

Moreover, the subpoenas are far too broad and, to the extent Sherman might raise a federal 

habeas claim regarding such evidence, the subpoenas are not at all tailored to obtain specific, 

identifiable things which relate to such claims.  Sherman fails to justify good cause for the requested 

records. 

Idaho Department of Corrections (IDOC) (Docket #159 at Exhibit 14).  Sherman seeks to obtain 

a broad range of documents from the IDOC regarding Sherman.  First, there is no time or date 

framework on the request.  Sherman fails to justify the breadth of records requested.  Records such as 

culinary, classification, scheduling records, movement logs, unit and shift reports, gatehouse and 

visitation logs, education logs, chapel and canteen, accounting logs, mailroom, grievances, cell 

searches, drug testing, law library, unit rosters are irrelevant to the claims presented in the 

second-amended petition.  Sherman’s request for any and all condition, care, confinement and custody 

                                                 
  
5
  The actual subpoena duces tecum is directed to the CCDS Medical Records Section, not the Inmate Records Section.  

Docket #159 at Exhibit 12 p. 1; compare Attachment A. 
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records for “individuals identified above” is further irrelevant and has nothing to do whatsoever to 

Sherman, his claims, or this Court’s consideration of the claims.  Sherman fails to demonstrate the 

significance of records generated by law enforcement authorities to and/or from the IDOC regarding 

Sherman’s trial for murder in Nevada.  Sherman fails to either limit or justify his request for electronic 

media, including voice mail messages, e-mail, data files, program files, archival tapes, temporary files, 

system history, web site information, etc.  What data is this limited to, does this have to do with 

Sherman, what does this have to do with Sherman’s murder of Lester Bauer or Sherman’s claims in the 

second-amended federal habeas petition? 

Moreover, there is no nexus between the discovery sought and the pending claims.  Sherman 

was incarcerated for an Idaho murder.  However, Sherman fails to demonstrate how the records from 

IDOC pertain to his ineffective assistance of counsel claim.  Sherman’s fails to show good cause for the 

subpoena. 

Idaho State Commissions for Pardons and Parole (ICPP) (Docket #159 at Exhibit 15).  Again, 

Sherman fails to note which claims such records pertain.  However, as Respondents note above, 

Sherman argues in Claims Two (V) and (W) that counsel failed to furnish Dr. Pittel various 

documentary evidence, including Sherman’s performance while on parole from 1992 to 1994.  

Docket #103 at 167, 170. 

Once again the claim before the Court is counsel’s failure to provide Dr. Pittel with evidence of 

Sherman’s monthly progress on parole and regarding the allegedly inadequate supervision of Sherman 

while on parole.  Id. at 170.  Sherman provides no nexus between the claims in the second-amended 

petition and the large array of documents he now seeks from the ICPP, only speculation.  Sherman fails 

to narrowly tailor the subpoena to specific, identifiable things that relate to the claims presented in the 

second-amended federal habeas petition. 

Washington State Department of Corrections (WDOC) (Docket #159 at Exhibit 16).  Sherman 

seeks evidence from the WDOC pertaining to a civil action filed against the WDOC.  Sherman fails to 

provide any nexus between the records held by the WDOC regarding this lawsuit and the case before 

this Court.  Further, Sherman requests documents that would be protected by the attorney-client 

privilege.  See Wharton, 127 F.3d at 1205; see generally Pac. Fisheries Inc., 539 F.3d at 1148. 
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Longview (Washington) Police Department (LWPD) (Docket #159 at Exhibit 17).  Sherman 

again seeks any and all information in the hands of the LWPD.  This information goes well beyond the 

justification provided by Sherman.  Rather, the information Sherman seeks includes, but is not limited 

to, material concerning the murder for which he was convicted and any and all criminal cases involving 

Sherman.  Sherman does not demonstrate good cause for the request to LWPD. 

Sherman also includes in his subpoena “District attorney’s material.”  Id.  Sherman fails to 

explain the nexus between such material to his claims, and why the LWPD would be the repository of 

such materials.  Finally, Sherman’s arguments as to the Idaho murder fail to demonstrate good cause for 

discovery.  See Docket #170 at 48. 

Gail Stinton (Docket #159 at Exhibit 8.).  Sherman alleges Ms. Stinton’s deposition should be 

conducted at the “earliest possible date” because she “is 76 years old and frail.”  Docket #158 at 18 n. 8, 

citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 27(a).  However, aside from that single statement, Sherman fails to demonstrate 

Ms. Stinton is unwell or that time is of the essence to take her deposition. 

Sherman fails to provide any explanation of what information he would obtain from a deposition 

of Ms. Stinton.  In the second-amended federal habeas petition Sherman outlines in great length the 

psychiatric history of Ms. Stinton.  Docket #103 at 167-70.  Ms. Stinton also testified at both the guilt 

and penalty phases of trial.  Exhibits 66 and 73.  Ms. Stinton has also signed two declarations, not 

signed before a notary public, regarding her health and her background (from 2005).  Docket #115-2 

at Exhibits 7.6 and 7.7.
6
 

Sherman fails to establish a nexus between this deposition and his claims other than speculation 

that he may obtain some information that he has not previously obtained from Ms. Stinton and provided 

to this Court.  Sherman does not establish what evidence he seeks from Ms. Stinton during the 

deposition. 

 
E. Sherman Fails to Establish Good Cause for Discovery Regarding the Lethal Injection 

Protocols. 
 

Sherman seeks leave to serve subpoenas regarding discovery and testimony from representatives 

of the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC), Nevada Department of Health and Human Services 

                                                 
  
6
  Respondents do not concede the substance of these declarations. 
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(NDHHS), and Public Works Division of the State of Nevada (NPWD).  Docket #158 at 20, citing 

Docket #159 at Exhibits 21-26.  He seeks this information to demonstrate that lethal injection in 

Nevada is cruel and unusual punishment and to overcome the procedural defenses. 

Respondents argue in the reply in support of the motion to dismiss that Claim Eighteen, 

regarding lethal injection, is not ripe for review by this Court, as conceded by Sherman, because he is 

not scheduled for execution.  Docket #170 at 57. 

Sherman seeks information as to the imminent closure of Nevada State Prison, which houses the 

execution chamber, including the chamber’s present upkeep to show that an execution cannot be 

performed at that location.  Docket #158 at 20-21.  This is not a claim in Sherman’s second-amended 

federal habeas petition.  See Docket #103 at 307.  Moreover, such claim is not ripe as Sherman is not 

currently scheduled for execution, and therefore the current condition of the Nevada State Prison and 

execution chamber are not properly before this Court.  Sherman provides no nexus between his claim 

and this request for discovery, and raises nothing but speculation as the basis for this discovery request. 

Sherman outlines the lethal injection protocols, including the review of those protocols by an 

expert witness.  Docket #158 at 21-22.  Sherman then alleges numerous questions not covered by the 

manual.  Id. at 22.  Sherman fails to demonstrate, again, why these questions are ripe at this time as 

Sherman is not currently scheduled for execution.  Moreover, as Respondents argue in the motion to 

dismiss and reply, this claim is itself unexhausted, untimely and procedurally barred.  Docket #124, 

170.  While Sherman seeks discovery to demonstrate the merits of his claim and a basis to overcome the 

procedural bars and timeliness, he fails to demonstrate he is entitled to discovery on a claim that 

remains unexhausted.  See Docket #34. 

The information Sherman seeks is confidential.  That confidentiality is not contrary to federal or 

state law.  Further, Sherman seeks to challenge the actual lethal injection, not the actions leading up to 

such injection.  The information Sherman seeks has no nexus with his claims and is purely speculative.  

For instance, what does the Americans with Disabilities Act compliance at the Nevada State Prison 

have to do with Sherman’s claim?  See Docket #159 at Exhibits 21, 23.  Sherman does not raise this 

allegation within his petition, and this question has nothing to do with his claims. 

. . . 
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Claim Eighteen is not properly before this Court at this time.  Even if this Court determines 

Claim Eighteen is exhausted, it is not ripe.  Even if this Court determines Claim Eighteen is ripe, 

conducting the requested discovery at this time is fruitless.  The time and date of Sherman’s execution 

is not scheduled.  The protocols utilized by the NDOC, the individuals responsible, even the location of 

the execution could change before Sherman’s execution is scheduled, let alone carried out.  Sherman’s 

claims are speculative at best. 

III. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should deny Sherman’s renewed motion for leave to conduct discovery. 

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 26
th
 day of January, 2012. 

 
  CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO 
  Attorney General 
 
 By: /s/ Heather D. Procter  
  HEATHER D. PROCTER 
  Deputy Attorney General 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Office of the Attorney General and that on this 26
th
 day of 

January, 2012, I served a copy of the foregoing OPPOSITION TO RENEWED MOTION FOR LEAVE 

TO CONDUCT DISCOVERY, by U.S. District Court CM/ECF electronic filing to: 

 
DAVID ANTHONY 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
411 East Bonneville Avenue, Suite 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
 

 /s/ Lisbet M. Sherwood  
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 8, 2013, 9:41 A.M. 

THE MARSHAL: Bottom of page 6, C124422, Williams. 

MR. REED: Good morning, Your Honor, Norm Reed and Dan Silverstein for 

Mr. Williams. I'd ask the Court to waive his presence; he's in Ely. 

THE COURT: Hi. 

MR. DiGIACOMO: Marc DiGiacomo for the State. Good morning, Your 

Honor. 

THE COURT: Good morning. Okay, so this is a motion to declare Nevada's 

10 method of execution a violation of the eighth amendment and the State's opposition 

11 thereto. 

12 MR. REED: Judge, I'll be brief. I mean, the real issue that we're trying to 

13 focus on in this case is the injection protocols. My understanding, and I've spoken 

14 to the Attorney General's office, they actually represent the prison, the prison is the 

15 one who adopts these procedures. There we have an actual copy of the execution 

16 manual that existed before Baze. What we're looking to find out is, is there a new 

17 one in place that satisfies the current United States Supreme Court mandates? And 

18 I think the State's position is primarily dealing with whether it's admissible or not. 

19 I think there's a huge difference between discoverability and 

20 admissibility. And I can inform the Court that in a case that ended up negotiating 

21 shortly before going to trial, which the death penalty was waived, we were in front of 

22 Judge Villani, and the Attorney General's office had indicated to us that at that time, 

23 this is approximately 6 months ago, there were no injection protocols in place. 

24 So what I'm going to ask the Court to do is to -- since that is truly, I 

25 believe, the party's attorney that would have standing to fight whether or not it's 

2 
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1 discoverable. I'd ask the Court to see if we can have the Attorney General's office 

2 come in and make representations to the Court about whether or not this current 

3 procedure even exists and what the status of it is. And then we can proceed from 

4 there, because if there is no actual lethal injection protocols in place, it's going to be 

5 a very short answer to our position on this motion. If there is, then we can proceed 

6 accordingly from there. So that's basically our position. 

7 And I certainly appreciate that the State is saying we may or may not be 

8 able to admit this into evidence, but I do believe we're entitled to at least have an 

9 understanding of what the current injection process is. Mr. Williams is not under a 

10 lethal injection status. He has not been found the death penalty, but that was 

11 previously found by a three-judge panel. So we believe it's very important for us to 

12 at least have this information available to us to take appropriate steps to challenge it 

13 under the eighth amendment. 

14 THE COURT: Okay. And so you basically want it in the record in case he 

15 does receive the death penalty following his penalty phase, then you do have it in 

16 the record for future appeals, right? 

17 MR. REED: That's correct, Your Honor. And additionally, in terms of the 

18 actual substance of the motion itself, we're going to ask the Court to stay its decision 

19 on that motion because obviously the injection protocols and whether they exist and 

20 to what extent they're in compliance with Nevada law and United State's Supreme 

21 Court law is very relevant to the disposition of that motion. 

22 THE COURT: Okay. 

23 MR. DiGIACOMO: I'm not sure which opposition Mr. Reed read, but I didn't 

24 discuss admissibility at all. The Court lacks jurisdiction, with all due respect, on this 

25 subject matter. Until such time as he's sentenced to death, he cannot attack the 

3 
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1 statute. Once he's sentenced to death, he can't even attack it on appeal; he can't 

2 attack it on post-conviction. But the Nevada Supreme Court has said you have to 

3 file a 1983 action. He claims that the Court somehow has jurisdiction over a non-

4 party, the Department of Corrections, to order discovery to an issue that is irrelevant 

5 to the trial that's proceeding in front of this Court. The Nevada Supreme Court has 

6 said it, the U.S. Supreme Court has said it, there is simply absolutely no authority 

7 whatsoever for an order from a trial court to the Department of Corrections saying 

8 turn over what your protocols are today, because as the Nevada Supreme Court 

9 says, the Department of Corrections is always in the discretion to change the 

10 protocols. 

11 And so there is no statute that you can find unconstitutional, because 

12 the only statute says that it shall be carried out by lethal injection. And the Supreme 

13 Court even says that this a federal 1983 action, which is the basis for objecting to 

14 the nature of the protocol. And as such, Judge, my objection is this is totally 

15 irrelevant to this trial proceeding. 

16 THE COURT: Okay. Anything else? 

17 MR. DiGIACOMO: No. 

18 THE COURT: Let me just think about it. I tend to -- I'll be frank with you. I 

19 tend to agree with the State as far as this is not the time or the place to raise this 

20 issue. But let me think it through a little bit more since you kind of came out at it a 

21 little bit differently than you did in your motion. 

22 MR. REED: Right. And, Judge, I did that primarily because I anticipated that 

23 the State would take this absolute position. I disagree entirely that we can't 

24 challenge this in any way, shape, or fashion at this point. But more importantly, the 

25 Attorney General's office has indicated to us that the representations are already 

4 

AA6578



1 made exist. So if we subpoena them, and we certainly have subpoena power under 

2 the statute, that we don't believe that exceeds the scope of the subpoena authority 

3 from this Court. And so, therefore, what is the harm? And possibly bring the 

4 Attorney General in to indicate their position on this. It would seem like it would be 

5 the most prudent thing to do, since they are, they meaning the State trying to 

6 execute Mr. Williams. 

7 THE COURT: Okay. Let me think about your position a little bit more. Again, 

8 I still am leaning toward the State's position of not the appropriate time or place, but 

9 let me think about it a little bit more. 

10 MR. REED: Thank you, Judge. 

11 THE COURT: Thanks. 

12 MR. DiGIACOMO: Thank you, Your Honor. 

13 THE COURT: And then it looks like we're doing the penalty hearing in July. 

14 Does that still look right? 

15 MR. DiGIACOMO: The State anticipates being ready, Judge. 

16 THE COURT: That's an old, old case. 

17 MR. REED: Well, we're working on that, Judge. I have other pressing 

18 matters. I can't tell the Court now that we're going to be ready in July. 

19 THE COURT: It looks like his verdict was in 1996. 

20 MR. REED: That's correct, Judge. 

21 THE COURT: It's been a long time. All right. 

22 MR. DiGIACOMO: It's been reversed for 5, 6 years. 

23 THE COURT: I remember this one. Wasn't this case David Roger's case 

24 originally? 

25 MR. DiGIACOMO: It was. 
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1 THE COURT: Cause he was originally going to try this. I remember, but it 

2 was way before me. Okay, I will think about it and I will get a decision out. Thank 

3 you. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

MR. DiGIACOMO: Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you, Your Honor. 

PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 9:47 A.M. 

* * * * * 

22 ATTEST: I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

23 
audio/video recording in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 

24 

25 "-1'n ~ 'cl. G CIA~ l f 
MARIA L. GARIBAY 
Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

MARLO THOMAS ) CASE NO. 2:17-cv-00475

v.  ) 

TIMOTHY FILSON, et al. ) 

DECLARATION OF AMY B. NGUYEN 

I, Amy B. Nguyen, of Coppell, Texas, declare: 

1. I am the owner of Capital Maps, LLC.

2. I am a Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Analyst who specializes in Capital Sentencing

Mitigation Mapping.

3. GIS is the integration of data with software and hardware that allows the user to capture, analyze

and display geographically referenced data.

4. I hold Masters Level Certification in GIS from the University of Texas at Dallas, and a

Bachelor’s Degree in Physical Science from University of Houston – Clear Lake.

5. I have particular expertise in census tract data and a subspecialty in crime data.

6. I have contributed capital sentencing mitigation maps in fifty (50) state death penalty trials and

sixteen (16) Federal death penalty trials.

7. The type of maps I produce provide a persuasive means for presenting complex, community risk

factors for criminal violence as defined by the Department of Justice such as poverty, exposure to

violence, lead exposure, community disorganization, gang activity, lack of role models and

substandard education.
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8. I was retained to identify community risk factors for Mr. Thomas and produce maps showing 
those risk factors.

9. Making the maps for Mr. Thomas’ case involved numerous steps.  A base map layer was 
obtained – from U.S. Census TIGER files and Clark County GIS.  Other layers included a city 
boundary, hydrography, streets, parks, local landmarks, etc. These files were loaded into ArcGIS 
mapping software, from this a base-map was created.

10. The Thomas family addresses and Mr. Thomas’ schools were provided to me by defense counsel 
and were coded into the base-map.

11. The demographic data files for the 1970, 1980, and 1990 Census were obtained via data download 
from the US Census website and formatted for compatibility with the ArcGIS mapping database. 
Those files were then imported to the database and tied to the census tract layer file via a common 
identifier that was contained in both files, from this an analysis could be made. An example of 
how this was done is as follows:

(# Single Mother Families/Total # of Families) x 100 = Percentage of Single Mother Families

12. I reviewed Clark County, Nevada census data associated with Mr. Thomas’ juvenile history 
against that of the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency (OJJD) study regarding community 
risk factors in committing an act of violence and produced thirty-one (31) maps regarding risk 
factors found in the childhood neighborhoods of Mr. Thomas. The risk factors identified included 
single mother families, lack of education attainment, community disorganization, poverty, and 
frequent moves and school transitions.

13. In the 1970s Mr. Thomas lived at four addresses in Las Vegas and North Las Vegas – Gerson 
Avenue, King Avenue, Duchess Avenue, and West Adams Avenue. The Gerson and West Adams 
Avenue addresses were in the same census tract, number 3.02. The King Avenue and Duchess 
Avenue addresses were in the same tract, number 37.

14. Female headed households in the Gerson and West Adams census tract made up 34.48% of 
households in the tract in the 1970 census. This was 254% higher than the Clark County average 
of 9.17%.

15. In this same tract adults age twenty-five and up with less than a ninth-grade education made up 
32.38% of all adults, this was 110% higher than the Clark County average. The King and Duchess 
tract at 19.03% was 24% higher than the county average.

16. Adults twenty-five and up with no diploma or GED made up 31.29% of tract 3.02, this was 46%

higher than the county average. In the King and Duchess tract the average was 32.27%, which was 

51% higher than the county average (21.44%).

17. Poverty was a significant issue in both home tracts. Families living at or below poverty in Clark 
County in 1970 made up 9.18% of all families. The Gerson and West Adams tract had an average 
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135% higher at 21.53%. The King and Duchess tract at 17.27% was 88% higher than the county 

average. 

18. Families receiving public assistance in 1970 Clark County averaged a low 0.98%, however the

Gerson and West Adams tract average was 5.28%, which represented a 439% increase over the

county average. The King and Duchess tract, at 2.03%, was 107% higher than the county average.

19. Unemployment, an example of both community disorganization and an explanation of poverty

was a serious problem as well. The census indicated the unemployment rate for Clark County in

1970 was 5.08%. In the Gerson and West Adams tract the average was 8.77%, which was 73%

higher than the county average.

20. Median family income in Clark County in 1970 was $11,618. The Gerson and West Adams tract

the average was $7,837. This amounted to $3,781 less a year to live on, or $315 less a month to

live on than the county average. The King and Duchess tract was slightly better at $8,669, still

$2,949 less a year, or $246 less a month to live on than average.

21. During the 1980s Mr. Thomas lived at five addresses in North Las Vegas; 2036 Hassell Avenue,

Yale Street, West Cartier Avenue, Salt Lake, and Spear Streets, and in the following Las Vegas

locations; Adams Avenue, North J Street, 833 Hassell Avenue, and Hart Ave.

22. Only three of the addresses were in tracts where African Americans were not the majority; Salt

Lake and Spear, which were in the same tract, and Yale St near Interstate 15.

23. Single mother families in 1980 Clark County made up 7.13% of all families, however the tract of

the Cartier and 2036 Hassell addresses had an average that was 215% higher than the county

average at 22.44%. The Yale Street tract average was 18.10% which was 154% higher than Clark

County. The J Street and Adams tract average was 465% higher than average. The Salt Lake and

Spear tract had an average of 19.80% which was 178% higher than the county average. The 833

Hassell Avenue and the Hart Avenue addresses, both in tract 35, was the worst with an average of

44.86% of all households headed by a single mother. This average was 529% higher than the

county average.

24. Adults age twenty-five and up with less than a ninth-grade education in 1980 Clark County made

up 11.36% of all adults age 25 and up. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract had an average that was

65% higher at 18.71%. The Yale Street tract average was 144% higher at 27.76%. The J Street

and Adams tract average was 147% higher than average at 28.07%. The Salt Lake and Spear tract

had an average of 15.27% which was 34% higher than the county average. The 833 Hassell

Avenue and the Hart Avenue tract averaged 32.67%, 188% higher than the county average.

25. By the 1980s we could analyze African American education rates as well. African American

adults age twenty-five and up with less than a ninth-grade education in 1980 Clark County made

up 8.22% of all adults age 25 and up. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract, at 23.17% was 182%

higher than the county average. The Yale Street tract average was 218% higher at 26.18%. The J
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Street and Adams tract average was 234% higher than average at 27.47%. The Salt Lake and 

Spear tract had an average of 10.11% which was 23% higher than the county average. The 833 

Hassell Avenue and the Hart Avenue tract averaged 31.49%, the worst of all the addresses, at 

283% higher than the county average. 

26. Adults age twenty-five and up with no diploma or GED in 1980 Clark County made up 16.79%

of all adults age 25 and up. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract had an average that was 54%

higher at 25.83%. The Yale Street tract average was 43% higher at 24.01%. The J Street and

Adams tract average was 78% higher than average at 29.91%. The Salt Lake and Spear tract had

an average of 23.85% which was 42% higher than the county average. The 833 Hassell Avenue

and the Hart Avenue tract averaged 30.51%, 82% higher than the county average.

27. African American adults age twenty-five and up with no diploma or GED in 1980 Clark County

made up 16.79% of all African American adults age 25 and up. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell

tract, at 29.01% was 126% higher than the county average. The Yale Street tract average was

115% higher at 27.56%. The J Street and Adams tract average was 135% higher than average at

30.16%. The Salt Lake and Spear tract had an average of 26.90% which was 110% higher than

the county average. The 833 Hassell Avenue and the Hart Avenue tract averaged 31.87%, the

worst of all the address, at 149% higher than the county average.

28. Poverty continued to be a problem in the areas where Mr. Thomas lived in the 1980s. The poverty

rate for Clark County in 1980 was 9.89%. All the tracts Mr. Thomas lived in were significantly

higher than the county average. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract, at 18.52% was 87% higher

than the county average. The Yale Street tract, at 34.40% was 249% higher than the county

average.  The J Street and Adams tract average was the worst of all, with an average of 39.24%

living at or below poverty, which was 297% higher than the county average. The Hassell Avenue

and the Hart Avenue tract averaged 29.18%, which was 195% higher than the county average.

29. African American poverty was also available for analysis in 1980. The poverty rate for African

Americans in Clark County was 11.88%. Once again, all the tracts Mr. Thomas lived in were

higher than normal. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract, at 21.99% was 85% higher than the

county average. The Yale Street tract, at 36.42% was 207% higher than the county average.  The

J Street and Adams tract average was the worst of all, with an average of 39.62% living at or

below poverty, which was 233% higher than the county average. The Hassell Avenue and Hart

Avenue tract averaged 29.86%, which was 151% higher than the county average.

30. Vacant homes are another example of community disorganization. They invite crime and can be a

haven for drug users. In 1980, Clark County had a vacant home rate of 7.81%. The Cartier and

2036 Hassell tract, at 16.27% was 108% higher than the county average. The Yale Street tract, at

11.48% was 47% higher than the county average.

31. High unemployment continued to be a problem in Mr. Thomas’ 1980s neighborhoods. The

unemployment rate for Clark County was 4.47% in 1980. The Cartier and 2036 Hassell tract

averaged 8.20%, which was 83% higher than the county average. The Yale Street tract, at 6.61%
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was 48% higher than the county average. The J Street and Adams tract average was 32% higher 

than average at 5.89%. The Salt Lake and Spear tract had an average of 7.65% which was 71% 

higher than the county average. The 833 Hassell Avenue and Hart Avenue tract averaged 8.55%, 

the worst of all the address, at 91% higher than the county average. 

32. Median family income had risen to $19,793 in Clark County by 1980. In the Cartier and 2036

Hassell tract the average was $18,095. This amounted to $1,698 less a year to live on, or $141

less a month to live on than the county average. The Yale Street tract was lower at $11,182,

which was $8,611 less a year or $718 less a month to live on. The J Street and Adams tract

average was the worst at $9,239, which was $10,554 less a year to live on, or $879 less a month.

The Hassell Avenue and Hart Avenue tract averaged $10,944, which was $8,849 less a year, or

$737 less a month to live on.

33. Mr. Thomas lived at three addresses in the 1990s. The first was in North Las Vegas on Spear

Street, then Montebello Avenue in Las Vegas, and finally on Raymond Street in North Las

Vegas.

34. Single mother households in Clark County made up 11.64% of all households in 1990. The Spear

Street address was 124% higher at 26.04%. The Raymond Street address was far worse at 50.56%

which was 344% higher than the county average.

35. Adults age twenty-five and up with less than a 9th grade education had dropped by 1990 in Clark

County to a 7.44%. The Spear Street tract was considerably higher at 16.99%, which was 128%

higher than the county average. The Raymond tract was 61% higher at 11.99%.

36. African American adults age twenty-five and up with less than a 9th grade education averaged

5.83% in Clark County by 1990. The Spear Street tract was higher at 11.30%, which was 94%

higher than the county average. The Raymond tract was 109% higher at 12.16%.

37. In 1990, adults age twenty-five and up with no diploma or GED averaged 17.71% in 1990 Clark

County. The Spear tract was 80% higher at 31.82%. The Raymond tract was even worse, with an

average of 35.07%, which was 98% higher than the county average.

38. African Americans twenty-five and up with no diploma or GED averaged 17.12% in 1990. The

Spear tract was 94% higher at 33.20%. The Raymond tract was even worse, with an average of

34.51%, which was 102% higher than the county average.

39. Poverty in Clark County by 1990 had only increased 1.78 points to 11.67%. The Spear tract was

85% higher at 21.74%. The Raymond tract was 247% higher at 40.79%.

40. African American Poverty in Clark County had risen to 16.55% by 1990. The Spear tract was

64.11% higher at 27.11% and the Raymond tract was higher still at 39.68% which was 140%

higher than the county average.
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41. Unemployment continued to plague North Las Vegas. While the Clark County average was

7.46%, the Spear tract was 10.30% which was 38% higher than average. The Raymond tract was

considerable worse at 21.62%, 190% higher than the county average.

42. Median family income by 1990 in Clark County had increased to $34,442. The Spear tract was

lower by $8,755, which was $730 less a month to live on. The Raymond tract was less than half

the county average, at $17,305. This amounted to $17,137 less a year, or $1,428 less a month to

live on.

43. The base of the animated map showing Mr. Thomas’ moves was also created using ArcGIS
software and the animation was completed using a drawing tool in Microsoft PowerPoint
software.

44. Mr. Thomas changed addresses at least fourteen (14) times and changed schools at least twenty-
six (26) times. Frequent moves and school changes are defined as a school risk factor according
to the Department of Justice.

45. Mr. Thomas’ childhood was marked by frequent moves and school changes often associated with
an unstable home life and a lack of opportunity to bond with teachers and make friends, in
additional to facing the added weight of poverty, lack of education and opportunities in his
neighborhoods.

7/27/2017 
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